1982

S. H. Bennion v. Shell Oil Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff commenced this action as an appeal pursuant to Section 40-6-10 U.C.A. (1953), as amended, from an administrative order entered by Utah's Board of Oil, Gas & Mining.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

After the case was at issue, and the State of Utah indicated its desire not to participate in the proceedings, both Mr. Bennion and Shell Oil Company (hereinafter "Shell") filed Motions for Summary Judgment. Both motions were argued before the Court at the same time and were based upon the case file

which included the Utah State Board of Oil, Gas & Mining (hereinafter the "Board") administrative record that was filed with the Court. On March 8, 1982 the Court entered its Order granting defendant's Motion, dismissing Mr. Bennion's Complaint with prejudice and affirming the Board's Order in its entirety. Plaintiff now appeals this ruling and seeks a review of the legal validity of the Board's Order.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Summary Judgment granted in favor of defendant Shell Oil Company should be reversed and this Court should decide the legal issues presented in conformity with the prayer of plaintiff's Complaint.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The material facts hereinafter referred to involve those which are part of the administrative record filed with the Court below, including the hearing transcripts contained therein.

Plaintiff, S. H. Bennion, is the owner of an unleased, undivided one-fourth mineral interest in all of the oil, gas and minerals located in NE $\frac{1}{4}$, SW $\frac{1}{4}$, NW $\frac{1}{4}$, SE $\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 1, Township 2 South, Range 5 West, Uintah Special Meridian, Duchesne County, Utah. (Ex. A-3) He has signed neither a unit operator's agreement nor a communitization agreement with respect to the mineral interests that he owns in the foregoing section. (Oct. 24, 1979 Tr. 27)

By order in Cause No. 139-3, entered June 24, 1971, as amended by order in Cause No. 139-8, entered September 20, 1972

(See Appendix No. 1), the Board of Oil, Gas & Mining (hereinafter the "Board") established Section 1, Township 2 South, Range 5 West, Uintah Special Meridian, as a drilling and spacing unit for the production of oil, gas and associated hydrocarbons pursuant to the authority given the Board under Section 40-6-6 U.C.A. (1953), as amended. In addition to establishing Section 1 as an oil and gas drilling unit, the Board also ordered that no more than one production oil and gas well could be drilled within the unit comprised of Section 1. (R. 53-57, 67)

In the latter part of 1973, Shell began to drill the designated oil and gas unit well for Section 1 denominated the TEW1-1B5 Well. In July 1974 said well first began production of both oil and gas. It has been operating as the designated unit well since that time. (R. 160)

Mr. Bennion was notified by Shell of the drilling of the unit well and was asked to sign an operating agreement to join in the drilling of TEW1-1B5 Well as a working interest owner. (Shell Ex. 4) After numerous letters to Mr. Bennion, Mr. Bennion advised Shell in a letter dated December 1, 1973 that he did not wish to involve himself as a working interest owner in the drilling of the well. (Shell Ex. 5)

Prior to first production Mr. Bennion advised Shell on numerous occasions that he, as a nonconsenting owner under Utah law, wished to take his proportionate share of the production of the unit well in kind. As he testified at a Board hearing on October 24, 1979:

Mr. Stirba: Have you ever requested from Shell, either you or through one of your attorneys, to receive your proportionate share of production from the well?

Mr. Bennion: Yes, sir. Many times I have asked Shell personally. I've had Mr. Crockett ask Shell. I think you have asked Shell that I wanted my oil and gas in kind and I get peculiar answers that it is available and it is ready--you can have it and I say "Who do I talk to?" and they say "We'll call you." In the absence of a call, it has been continuing now for seven years. I still don't have any oil in kind. They won't give it to me in kind. They won't give my gas to me in kind. They won't pay me for it if I wanted to pay for it. There is just nothing going on. It is a complete stalemate. (Transcript at p. 17)

.

Mr. Williams: Are you willing to accept a check in that amount subject to your right, such rights as you may have to audit their records and make adjustments to that audit which it might produce?

Mr. Bennion: No. I'm not.

Mr. Williams: You're not willing to accept payment in any amount?

Mr. Bennion: I want my oil in kind.

Mr. Williams: Have you made that position clear to Shell?

Mr. Bennion: Very clear from day one. The oil and gas in kind. (Transcript at pp. 30-31)

After repeated requests, Mr. Bennion did not receive his his share of production from the unit well. Consequently, on February 24, 1975, Bennion filed this Application with the Board seeking, among other things, to force pool the drilling unit comprising Section 1, as well as requesting that the Board enter an order giving Bennion his production from said well in kind.

(R. 58-60) A Notice of Hearing was sent by the Board scheduling Mr. Bennion's Application hearing for March 16, 1975. The hearing was continued and an Amended Application was filed with the Board on June 7, 1979. (R. 61-64, See Appendix No. 2). Pursuant thereto, the Board held hearings on the Amended Application on July 26, 1979, and on October 24, 1979, and entered an Interim Order dated March 26, 1980, which, among other things, pooled all the mineral interests in Section 1 for the development and operation of said drilling unit and for the protection of correlative rights, effective at 6:00 A. M., Mountain Daylight Time, July 26, 1979. (R. 65-71, See Appendix No. 3).

The Interim Order of the Board was entered based upon a upon a Stipulation of counsel for Shell and Mr. Bennion that prior to the date of the pooling order, Mr. Bennion was entitled to receive the sum of \$57,887.93 for his working interest and \$14,334.48 for his royalty interest in said well. (R. 72, See Appendix No. 4). These accumulations were based upon computations made by Shell since the well first produced in July 1974. Prior to the parties' Stipulation and the entry of the Interim Order, Mr. Bennion had received no production or royalties from the unit well. (Oct. 24, 1979, Tr. 17, 18)

On December 18, 1980, the Board held an additional hearing in this matter, and based upon the proposed orders presented and the arguments of counsel, the Board entered its final Order in this matter on April 30, 1981. The Board's final Order

substantially incorporates the provisions of its Interim Order and ordered Mr. Bennion to receive the proceeds of both his working interest and royalty interest accumulations prior to July 26, 1979, totaling the sum of \$72,222.41, plus interest that had accumulated in a six-month money market certificate, pursuant to the provisions of the Interim Order. The Board's final Order also determined that Mr. Bennion was entitled to receive the production from said well in kind after the date of the pooling order of July 26, 1979. (R. 80-87, See Appendix No. 5).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT MR. BENNION WAS NOT ENTITLED TO HIS WORKING INTEREST PRODUCTION IN KIND PRIOR TO JULY 26, 1979.

In order for the Court to fully understand the context of this case, it is essential that this Court have a general historical understanding of oil and gas conservation acts and their origins.

In the early days of oil and gas development in this country, little attention was given to drilling in the most efficient and productive fashion. Oil and gas production was subject only to the law of capture and drilling was done in complete disregard of a neighbor's property rights or an equitable distribution of the resources within any given field. Resource development under the law of capture created conditions of waste and inefficiency, which found its only justification in the preservation of individual property rights. As was stated by

Raymond Myers in The Law of Pooling and Unitization, Volume 1, page 2:

Operating separately-owned properties under the law of capture means a wasteful duplication of material and equipment. Many more wells are drilled than are necessary efficiently to drain the reservoir. The more wells that are drilled, the greater will be the dissipation of the precious reservoir energy.

Again, at Section 1.01, page 15, it is stated:

Under the common law there were no restrictions on the drilling of oil and gas wells. Spurred on by the law of capture the operators endeavored to "git their fustes with the mostest" wells. Whether the desire was to capture a neighbor's oil or only to protect property lines, the result was great waste and the economic loss that always follows the drilling of unnecessary wells. It was seen very early that orderly development and true conservation demanded as a minimum the proper spacing of wells.

Since it was predominantly thought that every property owner had the unlimited right to develop his property's resources in complete disregard of his neighbor, the law of capture provided the appropriate legal underpinning for that view. Eventually, it became apparent that such a narrow view of private property rights was creating great waste of oil and gas.

Therefore, in response to the need to preserve and to efficiently produce oil and gas, most states have enacted various conservation statutes, such as Utah's, found at Section 40-6-1, et seq. U.C.A.(1970 & Supp. 1981), which regulate drilling locations in an attempt to encourage efficient oil and gas production, while at the same time protecting the correlative rights of individual property owners in a given field or pool.

Conservation acts, in their most basic form, are nothing more than governmental communitization of separate and distinct tracts of land in a given field. Individual private property rights are now subsumed under the notion that what is communally good in a given field, is good for each individual mineral interest owner.

Conservation acts such as Utah's have withstood constitutional challenge. See Champlin Refining Co. v. Corporation Commission of Oklahoma, 286 U.S. 210, 76 L.Ed. 1062 (1932). Plaintiff is not challenging the constitutionality of any of the provisions of the Act, but is challenging (1) the construction of Section 40-6-6(g) and (h) as determined by the Board, and (2) the constitutionality of the Board's Order in that it constitutes an impermissible impairment of a vested property right.

In the case at bar, the issue before this Court is not whether or not Mr. Bennion is entitled to receive production prior to the date of the entry of the pooling order of July 26, 1979, since the Board has already decided his entitlement, but rather whether or not he is entitled to receive the production in kind. The Board has ordered that Mr. Bennion receive his production not in kind, but in cash. Such a distinction is not supported by Utah's pooling statute as will be further argued in a later portion of this Brief. Moreover, the Order in depriving Mr. Bennion of the product drained from his property to which he is statutorily entitled, constitutes an unconstitutional impairment of his vested property rights and is not supported by

the express statutory mandate given the Board to protect correlative rights.

Mr. Bennion is the President of V-1 Oil Company, a retailer of gasoline and propane products. (Oct. 24, 1979 Tr. 15) Quite obviously, in this capacity, he has a compelling business need to receive the oil and gas being drained from his property in kind. (Oct. 24, 1979 Tr. 24) There is nothing in the record to indicate that Mr. Bennion did not have the ability to receive delivery of his proportionate share of production in kind, nor is there anything in the record to suggest that Mr. Bennion's business interest in receiving his production in kind was an invalid one.

Section 40-6-6(g) prior to the 1977 amendment states in pertinent part:

. . . as to each owner who does not agree, he shall be entitled to receive from the person or persons drilling and operating the well on the unit his share of the production applicable to his interest, after the person or persons drilling and operating said well have recovered the share of the cost of drilling and operating applicable to such non-consenting owner's interest, plus a reasonable charge for supervision and storage
(Emphasis added)

The foregoing clearly establishes Mr. Bennion's right as a nonconsenting owner to receive his production as of the time the well has paid out. Although "production" is not defined in the Act, the Utah Supreme Court in W. S. Hatch Company v. Public Service Commission, 3 Utah 2d 7, 277 P.2d 809 (1954), defined "production" as follows:

Production has been defined signifying to bring oil, gas or minerals to the surface. When separation from the earth has been accomplished, the "production" has been completed. Id. at 813.

In other words, Mr. Bennion is entitled to his production, the product, when it is separated from the earth. There is nothing in Section 40-6-6(g) or in the plain meaning of the word "production" that requires a nonconsenting owner such as Mr. Bennion to take his production in cash and not in kind after a well is paid out. Mr. Bennion is entitled to demand his proportionate share in kind after the well is paid out and Shell is legally obligated to provide him that production. Shell cannot avoid its direct statutory obligation to give Mr. Bennion his production in kind by withholding from him totally his working interest until such time as ordered by the Board of Oil, Gas & Mining. Pursuant to Section 40-6-6(g), if Mr. Bennion wants his proportionate share of production, he is entitled to receive it in kind.

Moreover, the Board is statutorily mandated to fully protect the correlative rights of all the mineral interest owners in an oil and gas unit. Correlative rights is defined in the act by Section 40-6-4(j) as:

The term "correlative rights" means the owner's or producer's just and equitable share in a pool.

The Board's Order does not fully protect Mr. Bennion's correlative rights in that it does not provide for him to receive his just and equitable share in the pool. Quite obviously, for the Board to deny Mr. Bennion his production of the oil and gas

that is being drained from his property by Shell, amounts to Mr. Bennion not receiving his just and equitable share. Since the production from the well is a statutory entitlement under §40-6-6, the substitution by the Board of the proceeds of production for the actual production is inadequate, and contrary to the express statutory mandate that the Board protect Mr. Bennion's just and equitable share of the production.

Order No. 5 of the Board's Order clearly makes a distinction between the production from the well and the proceeds of such production. The Board orders that Mr. Bennion is entitled to receive the proceeds, but not the production. There is nothing in the Act that supports such a distinction. In fact, the word "proceeds" is not even used in any portion of the Act. The Act mandates that a nonconsenting owner receive his proportionate share of production. Therefore, the Board's Order is contrary to the law in that it does not fully protect Mr. Bennion's correlative rights, nor does it award him his production as required by the Act.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT MR. BENNION WAS NOT ENTITLED TO RECEIVE HIS STATUTORY LANDOWNER'S ROYALTY OF ONE-EIGHTH OF PRODUCTION AS PROVIDED BY SECTION 40-6-6(g) IN KIND PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE POOLING ORDER ENTERED BY THE BOARD.

Section 40-6-6(g), prior to the 1977 amendment, reads as follows:

Each pooling order shall make provision for the drilling and operation of a well on the drilling unit, and for the payment of the reasonable actual

cost thereof, including a reasonable charge for supervision and storage facilities. As to each owner who refuses to agree upon the terms for drilling and operating the well, the order shall provide for reimbursement for his share of the cost of and only out of production from the unit representing his interest, excluding royalty or other interests not obligated to pay any part of the cost thereof. In the event of any dispute as to such costs, the commission shall determine the proper costs. The order shall determine the interest of each owner in the unit, and may provide in substance that, as to each owner who agrees with the person or persons drilling and operating the well for the payment by the owner of his share of the cost, each such owner, unless he is agreed otherwise, shall be entitled to receive, subject to royalty or similar obligations, the share of the production of the well applicable to the tract of the consenting owner, and as to each owner who does not agree, he shall be entitled to receive from the person or persons drilling and operating the well on the unit, his share of the production applicable to his interest, after the person or persons drilling and operating said well have recovered the share of the cost of drilling and operating applicable to such nonconsenting owner's interests, plus a reasonable charge of supervision and storage. Each consenting and nonconsenting owner shall be entitled to receive, subject to his paying or making arrangement with the owner or owners operating the well for the payment of all applicable royalties, overriding royalties or other burdens on production and his respective share of current operating or other costs incidental to the efficient operation of the well; his share, respectively, of production allocated to the tract or tracts in which he holds an interest; provided, however, that a nonconsenting owner of a tract in a drilling unit, which is not subject to any lease or other contract for the development thereof for oil and gas, shall be deemed to have a basic landowner's royalty of one-eighth (1/8) or twelve and one-half per cent of the production allocated to such tract. (Emphasis added)

Mr. Bennion's interest is not subject to a lease or other contract for mineral development. He is a nonconsenting owner. Therefore, by the express statutory language of Section

40-6-6(g), Mr. Bennion, as a nonconsenting owner, is entitled to receive a basic landowner's royalty of one-eighth of his proportionate share of production.

Historically, a one-eighth royalty is the usual royalty given by a lessee for the right to drill on the lessor's property. See Kunz, A Treatise on the Law of Oil and Gas, §39.1. Since a nonconsenting owner has no overriding contractual relationship with the operator, this provision clearly creates a statutory relationship between the nonconsenting owner and the operator that is equivalent to the voluntary relationship available to a nonconsenting owner by entering into a lease.

The provision for the royalty payment is necessary in order to clear a constitutional hurdle. Without such a provision, the statute would unconstitutionally deprive an owner of his property without just compensation and due process of law. In other words, although the nonconsenting private property owner is precluded from drilling his land, unless he is the designated operator of the unit well, by receiving the one-eighth royalty from the time the unit well first produces, he is not completely deprived of this property. Since he is entitled to receive a royalty from the time of first production, his property is not drained without some offsetting compensation. See Applicant of Farmer's Irrigation District, 194 N.W.2d 788, 187 Neb. 825 (1972); Ward v. Corporation Commission, 501 P.2d 503 (Okla. 1972).

Although the issue relating to the nature of a non-consenting owner's one-eighth royalty interest has not come before any Utah courts, the Board, in at least three previous cases, has construed 40-6-6(g) as providing for such a royalty from the time of first production. See In Re Malnar, Cause No. 131-26; In Re Armstrong, Cause No. 140-18; In Re S. H. Bennion, Cause No. 139-18. (See Appendix Nos. 6, 7, 8). Shell's counsel agrees that the Board has consistently taken this position:

The Board has taken the position rather consistently that the one-eighth statutory royalty arises by statute and independent of any act of the Board. (R. 225) (Emphasis added)

Therefore, Mr. Bennion was entitled to receive his statutory royalty in kind as of July, 1974. It was unnecessary for him to first go to the Board to trigger his royalty rights.

Moreover, the royalty given under 40-6-6(g) is payable in kind, as it is one-eighth of production. This is consistent with the traditional definition of a one-eighth landowner's royalty. See Shinn v. Buxton, 154 F.2d 629 (10th Cir. 1946); Simpson v. Burris, 365 P.2d 134 (Okla. 1961); Duvall v. Stone, 213 P.2d 212 (N.M. 1949). In Kunz, A Treatise on the Law of Oil and Gas, §38.2 up to 40, "royalty" was defined as follows:

The royalty which is provided for in an oil and gas lease may be defined in very general terms as constituting the share of the product, or the proceeds of the sale of any product, which the lessee pays the lessor for the privilege of producing oil and gas. (Emphasis added)

In most instances, the landowner's royalty will be paid in cash and not in kind. Obviously most lessors or fractional

mineral interest owners have neither the ability nor desire to receive the statutory royalty interest in kind. However, Mr. Bennion, as has previously been indicated, owns and operates V-1 Oil Company, which retails and distributes oil and gas products. Therefore, he has both the need and desire to receive his royalty in kind.

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