1982

# S. H. Bennion v. Shell Oil Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

of oil or gas, extending under his neighbor's field, so that it comes into his well, it becomes his property." Brown v. Spillman, 155 U.S. 655, 669-70 (1895). The only remedy of the adjoining landowner was to drill a well on his own land to capture as much of the pool as he could. 1 Williams & Meyers, op cit., at 57.

The Utah Oil and Gas Conservation Act changed the "rule of capture" to this extent: Where a spacing order or drilling order is entered permitting only one well on a unit covering separately owned parcels, the non-drilling mineral owner may obtain a share of the oil or gas in one of two specific ways. He may agree with the other mineral owners in the unit on a basis of sharing, thus voluntarily pooling the unit. See Utah Code Ann. §40-6-6(f) (1982 Repl. Vol.). Or he may petition the Board for an order compelling the pooling of all interests in the unit, thus force pooling the unit. See id. §40-6-6(f) and (g). If the mineral owner does neither, he is left where he was before the Oil and Gas Conservation Act, that is, with no rights in oil for which he has not drilled. Thus, the rule of capture continues to apply to any owner who neglects to avail himself of the remedies in the Act.

Although the Utah Supreme Court has never had occasion to consider the question, this has been the repeated conclusion of courts in other jurisdictions with conservation acts like

Utah's. See, e.g., Gruger v. Phillips Petroleum Co., 135 P.2d 485, 488 (Okla. 1943) ("The law of capture... still obtains ... except as it has been or may be regulated or restricted under the laws passed in the exercise of the police power .... [Those laws] simply authorize administrative boards to issue orders that have the effect of regulating or abrogating in a measure the law of capture."); California Co. v. Britt, 154 So.2d 144, 147-48 (Miss. 1963); Anderson v. Ellison, 285 F.2d 484, 486 (10th Cir. 1960) ("without the spacing statute and the Commission's pooling order he would have no right to share in the oil and gas produced from the well."); Wood Oil Co. v. Corporation Comm'n., 239 P.2d 1023, 1026 (Okla 1950).

Bennion's assertion of a vested right to a share of production from commencement of the well simply ignores the rule of capture and its relation to the Oil and Gas Conservation Act. He infers from subparagraphs (g) and (h) of section 40-6-6 of the Act that he is entitled as a matter of right to a share in production irrespective of any order of the Board and irrespective of any voluntary pooling arrangement to which he may agree. But these provisions refer in their entirety to the contents of forced pooling orders which are issued by the board and which become effective when the Board specifies. These provisions do not refer, as Bennion supposes, to rights of

landowners that exist independently of the Board's pooling orders.

In short, Bennion's share of production originated with the forced pooling order of the Board. It did not exist, accrue or vest before the Board's order. Precisely the same is true of Bennion's one-eighth "landowner's royalty."\* In asserting a "right" to production in kind before the effective date of the Board's pooling order, Bennion mistakes the source of his entitlement. The Oil and Gas Conservation Act is clear that Bennion had no such right to share in production before the effective date of the Board's order, which created and determined his share in the pool.

Although it had no legal obligation to do so, therefore, Shell paid Bennion more than \$72,000 as his share of production receipts from the date of first production to the effective date of the pooling order. Shell made this payment voluntarily in an attempt to honor previous offers to Bennion, in an attempt to induce Bennion's cooperation, and in an attempt to treat him fairly. But Shell is convinced, on the

---

\* Like the nonconsenting mineral owner's working interest share, his "landowner's royalty" originates with an order of the Board and does not accrue independently of proceedings before the Board. Subparagraph (h) of section 40-6-6 provides that "under a pooling order ... a non-consenting owner of a tract in a drilling unit ... shall be deemed to have a basic landowner's royalty of 1/8, or 12-1/2%, of the production allocated to such tract."



basis of the foregoing statutes and other authorities, that it had no obligation to share with Bennion in the proceeds of production before the effective date of the Board's pooling order. Since it had no such obligation, it could hardly be saddled with the more severe obligation to pay Bennion in kind.

B. It Would be Neither Just Nor Reasonable for Bennion to Receive Retroactive Payment in Kind

The Board ordered Shell to pay Bennion his working interest in kind after July 26, 1979, the effective date of the pooling order. Bennion complains, in effect, that the Board's refusal to make this order retroactive to the time of first production was an abuse of discretion. The Board, however, is obligated to issue pooling orders on "terms and conditions that are just and reasonable." Utah Code Ann. §40-6-6(f) (1982 Repl. Vol.). Bennion's request for retroactive payment in kind was neither just nor reasonable.

Bennion argues, in effect, that he should receive the advantage of 1982 oil and gas prices for his share of production beginning in 1974. Shell and the other working interest owners, of course, obtained their share of production as production occurred and at the lower prices that prevailed at that time. Bennion demands the advantage of increased oil prices even though he refused to undertake the risks of development along with the other working interest owners and even though he waited years to obtain an order of the Board establishing his

interest. Indeed, Bennion waited seven years after Shell proposed a cooperative agreement for drilling the unit and six and a half years after production began before he asked the Board to take action on his application for a forced pooling. During this entire period Shell was willing to share its production with Bennion on the same terms as to which the other working interest owners agreed. But Bennion refused to cooperate and to pay his share of development expenses -- not, we submit, merely because he was obstreperous. Rather he wished to let the others risk their money in drilling the well which, if successful, would benefit him. As the years passed and the price of oil and gas climbed dramatically through the mid-1970's, Bennion saw the opportunity to reap a windfall at the expense of the other working interest owners, by demanding payment of his alleged proportionate share in new oil and new gas. Bennion played a similar waiting game and made similar demands in at least ten other units in eastern Utah.\* But the Board

---

\* Bennion made similar claims against Gulf Oil Corporation, as operator of ten other units in Duchesne County in which Bennion refused to pool his interest voluntarily. In those units, as in this case, Bennion waited for years to demand retroactively his share of production in kind. As in the present case, the Board refused Bennion's requests holding: "The applicant has failed to bring the present petition before the Board until several years after the drilling units were first initiated.... [A]pplicant had several opportunities to participate in voluntary pooling arrangements on these properties. Failure to either petition the Board or take other action at an earlier date has jeopardized applicant's equitable position...." Order in In re Bennion, Cause No. 139-18 (Jan. 24, 1980) at 4.

refused to let Bennion succeed here, as in those units, because his failure to obtain a forced pooling order promptly at the outset of the well's development jeopardized his equitable position.

Courts in other jurisdictions have uniformly rejected similar claims on the same equitable grounds. For example, the Nebraska Supreme Court in Baumgartner v. Gulf Oil Corp., 168 N.W.2d 510, 518 (Neb. 1969), held:

"Plaintiff was given every opportunity to secure his just and equitable share of the oil in the pool by being offered fair, reasonable and equitable participation with the other interested parties in [the unit]. He refused to participate as he had every right to do. As an oil operator we must assume that he was fully aware of the consequences of his refusal. While we agree he had a perfect right to refuse to join the project, he should not be rewarded because he did. Neither should he be permitted to recover what he would have received if he had assumed the risks of the project. To hold either way would serve to defeat the purpose of our conservation act . . ."

Accord: Desormeaux v. Inexco Oil Corp., supra; Superior Oil Co. v. Humble Oil & Rfg. Co., 165 So.2d 905, 910-11 (La. App. 1964); Anderson v. Corporation Comm'n, 327 P.2d 699, 702 (Okla. 1958); Wood Oil Co. v. Corporation Comm'n, supra, 239 P.2d at 1026. See also United Petroleum Exploration, Inc. v. Premier Resources, Ltd., 511 F.Supp. 127, 131 (W.D. Okla. 1980).

Bennion relies upon two cases for the proposition that

he is entitled to production in kind from the date of first production. Neither case, however, supports Bennion's position; in fact both cases demonstrate its legal and equitable flaws. In the first of those cases, Ward v. Corporation Comm'n, 501 P.2d 503 (Okla. 1972), the court held that a non-drilling owner was entitled to participate in the proceeds of production, but only back to the date upon which the administrative agency's spacing order was issued. (Under an Oklahoma statute, the statutory royalty is pooled as of the date of the spacing order.) Since the subject well produced for months before the spacing order was entered, the Ward court in effect affirmed an order denying the type of relief that Bennion seeks here. More importantly, the nonconsenting owner in Ward did not seek production in kind, and the court's decision had nothing to do with that issue.

In the other case Bennion cites, In re Application of Farmers Irrigation District, 194 N.W.2d 788 (Neb. 1972), the Nebraska court held that a pooling order was correctly made retroactive to the date of first production from the well. The court, however, was careful to limit its ruling to avoid exactly the type of claim that Bennion now makes. At the close of its opinion the court in Farmers Irrigation District stated:

"We do not mean to say that this [i.e. retroactive pooling] should be done in every instance. All pertinent factors affecting the particular case under review must be considered. There is

ordinarily no good reason why an adjoining owner should not ask for a voluntary pooling agreement at the time his neighbor starts to drill and thereby share in the expense, as well as in production, whether or not the well proves successful. The statutes clearly intend that rights shall be resolved upon an equitable basis. To permit an adjoining owner to sit back and await the successful outcome of drilling operations without asking for a pooling agreement would place the entire risk and the entire expense upon the party drilling in the event of an unsuccessful operation. This would ordinarily be inequitable and not justify a retroactive order. [The Nebraska statute comparable to section 40-6-6] contemplates that when an adjoining owner fails to enter into a voluntary pooling agreement, a spacing and pooling order may be entered on the application of any interested party. The drilling party may recover the share of the expense allocated to the adjoining owner by deducting it from the adjoining owner's share of the oil or gas produced. This enhances the risk taken by the drilling party who may encounter a dry well and is a factor which must also be considered in weighing equities." (Emphasis added.)

194 N.W. 2d at 792. Bennion not only "sat back and awaited the successful outcome of drilling operations;" he has also awaited the escalation of oil and gas prices so as to press a claim for payment in kind at the most advantageous moment. Significantly, the landowner in Farmers Irrigation District was not permitted to share production in kind, but only the proceeds of production. See 194 N.W.2d at 789.

Bennion, then, has given the Court no authority for his claims in this case. He has failed to show the Court a single instance in which a non-drilling mineral interest owner was permitted production in kind retroactively from the date of

first production. He has not advanced a single reason which, in equity, would entitle him to that extraordinary relief. And he has most assuredly not shown that the Board's decision was arbitrary or capricious.

C. The Word "Production" in Section 40-6-6  
Does Not Entitle Bennion to Payment  
In Kind Back to First Production

Bennion asserts (at page 11 of his brief) that section 40-6-6(g)'s use of the phrase "share of production" signifies a legislative "mandate" that the Board's pooling orders must grant nonconsenting owners a share of oil and gas in kind and forecloses the Board from ordering such owners to share in the cash proceeds of production. Bennion's interpretation of the statute is wrong because he has an incorrect conception of the meaning of the word "production." Bennion's interpretation of the statute, moreover, would defeat the essential goals of the Oil and Gas Conservation Act.

In the first place, "production" does not always or even usually mean "product." The word "production" is often used to refer to the value of production or the process of producing. Thus "production taxes" (a term frequently used to denote taxes like the Utah mining occupation tax, the Utah oil and gas conservation gas, or the Utah ad valorem tax) refers to taxes based on the value of production. See, e.g. 15 U.S.C. §3320(a) (providing for producer reimbursement of severance, production or similar taxes levied on "production of

natural gas"). Section 40-6-6(g) itself contemplates exactly this use of the term "production" by requiring costs of surface equipment, drilling and operation to be subtracted "from the nonconsenting owner's share of production." Bennion's own lawyers use "production" in this sense when they tell the Court: "[T]he issue before this Court is not whether or not Mr. Bennion is entitled to receive production prior to the date of the entry of the pooling order ... but rather whether or not he is entitled to receive production in kind." (Appellant's Brief at 8). In short, the word "production" does not necessarily mean "product" unless the qualifying words "in kind" are added.

In the second place, the Oil and Gas Conservation Act's essential goal of inducing owners to agree promptly with operators as to the division of costs and production would be frustrated if the Board had no choice but to require retroactive sharing of production in kind in its pooling orders. If this were the rule, every owner would (like Bennion) simply refuse to risk his money for drilling costs, would wait until the operator completed a successful well, and would continue to wait until the price of oil increased, before approaching the Board for a pooling order. The Oil and Gas Conservation Act cannot be interpreted in a way that rewards owners for refusing to comply with the Act. This was the point of the Nebraska

court's decision in In re Application of Farmers Irrigation District, supra, cited by Bennion in support of his position.

D. The Board's Order Does Not Violate Bennion's Right to "Possess and Protect Property"

With no pertinent authority to support him, Bennion makes the sweeping charge that the Board's order denies him the right to "possess and protect property" guaranteed in Article I, Section 1 of the Utah Constitution. Significantly, Bennion does not contend that he has been insufficiently compensated for his share of oil and gas production for periods before the effective date of the Board's pooling order. Rather he argues that the Board's refusal to award him retroactive payment in kind denied him the "liberty to contract with others respecting the use to which he may subject his property." (Appellant's Brief at 17-18).

The first problem with this contention is that Bennion never raised this argument in the District Court or before the Board, but raises it for the first time on appeal. The general rule in this jurisdiction is, of course, that "matters not raised in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." Chumney v. Stott, 14 Utah 2d 202, 203-04, 381 P.2d 84, 86 (1963). There is reason to depart from that rule in the present case.

More fundamentally, the Board deprived Bennion of nothing; certainly the Board did not prevent him from entering

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